RECEIVED
Mar 01 2021
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHALESTON COUNTY
MASTERS-IN-EQUITY LAW COURT
Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-In-Equity law Judge

Case No. 2016-001201

Allen Livingston.....Respondent,

V.

Harold Simmons, Jr.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Harold Simmons, Jr. Pro Se
3042 North Carolina Ave
North Charleston, SC 29405
(843) 480-8694

Bruce A. Berlinsky, P.A.
One Carriage Lane Bldg. F.
Charleston, SC 29407
(843) 852-2202
Attorney for Respondent

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN RULING ON THE DENIED JURY TRIAL, CHANGE OF VENUE, AND COUNTERCLAIM?
2. DID THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN RULING ON THE ORDER OF THE MASTER'S SALE ON THE FORCLOSURE OF THE INSTALLMENT SALES CONTRACT?
3. DID THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN THE IGNORING AND NON ACCEPTANCE OF THE PRIOR JUDGE ORDER OF THE AMORTIZATION REPORT AND PROCEEDING ACCORDING TO THE REPORT ORDERED BY JUDGE NICHOLSON?
4. DID THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN THE IGNORING AND NON ACCEPTANCE OF THE PRIOR JUDGE ORDER OF THE BACK TAXES BEING PAID OUT OF THE EXCESS OVERAGE PAYMENTS THAT WAS RECEIVED?
5. DID THE COURT BELOW ERRED ON THE RULING BASED ON AN ORDER SIGNED BY A JUDGE WHERE THERE WAS NO HEARING AND NO NOTICE OF HEARING GIVEN TO APPELLANT?
6. DID THE COURT ERRED IN IGNORING THE PERJURY THE RESPONDENT LEGAL COUNSEL CONCERNING A HEARING THAT WAS NOT HELD WITH THE APPELLANT PRESENCE OR BEING PROPERLY NOTIFIED?
7. DID THE COURT ERRED IN IGNORING THE FALSIFICATION OF DOCUMENTS AND REWRITING OF CONTRACT BY OF THE RESPONDENT THAT WAS STATED IN THE ORDER FROM NICHOLSON?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Harold Simmons Jr. is a disabled businessman of Charleston County.

Respondent Allen Livingston is a businessman of Charleston County.

- 1) On March 11, 2014, the Respondent filed a Lis Pendens (R157-165) concerning a property that was in contract between the Respondent and the Appellant. On April 4, 2014 the Appellant was served (R198-200). At the time, Appellant had paid \$92,000 (R101-102, R105, R111 line 184, R256 pg 325 lines 9-25, R326 lines 1-13).
- 2) On April 24, 2014, the Appellant filed an answer and requested a Jury Trial (R-162-168). The Respondent and Bruce Berlinsky (Respondent's Attorney) and Judge Dennis held an unscheduled hearing on April 28, 2014 (R192 through 200). This is a violation of Due Process of Law. Appellant was never informed or served by the court about these hearings (R198-201).
- 3) And on June 4, 2014, Respondent's Attorney filed an affidavit of default. Appellant Harold Simmons had no knowledge about the Affidavit of Default until Respondent Attorney used it for default at the August 11, 2016 hearing (R460-R465 lines 1-25).
- 4) On June 12, 2014, Appellant filed a counterclaim for years of harassment by Respondent Allen Livingston and his Attorneys (R204-211, R301-311 line 4).
- 5) On July 16, 2014, a hearing was scheduled to go before Judge Nicholson (R250-251).
- 6) On July 2, 2014, Appellate Harold Simmons Junior received a letter from Respondent's Attorney Bruce Berlinsky stating a Motion Hearing scheduled for July 16, 2014 before Judge Nicholson is no longer necessary at this time (R253).
- 7) From the first date on or around November 2014 through December 17, 2014, Judge Mikell Scarborough and the court denied the Appellant any and all due process along with ignoring and not accepting prior orders by Judge Nicholson and the fact that the Respondent's legal counsel falsely testified about an unscheduled hearing that was never held at the court house and presented documents based on the false Default Hearing (R193-194) and further refused to take in consideration the Respondent's perjury (R255-256, R261 lines 1-6, R262 lines 2-12, R265 lines 9-11, R271 lines 7-9, R275 line 7, R286 lines 6-16, R286-321) and falsification by forgery of documents in prior court proceedings under Judge Nicholson and the court (R95-96, R98, R136-137, R141 lines 1-9).

Judge Mikell Scarborough has constantly denied the Appellant several Requests and Demand for a Jury Trial (R242-249). At the time, the court gave no reason to why Appellant was denied and Appellant

Harold Simmons Jr. did not know about Judge Dennis until the August 11, 2016 hearing (R460, R463-R466). Appellant was denied a Change of Venue (R259 lines 8-25, R260 lines 1-10) and Counterclaim during the entire process and refused to dismiss the Respondent's claim and grant Appellant the counterclaim demand (R205). This Appeal followed: No court has the lawful right to strike a jury trial according to South Carolina Rule of the Court rule 53 and 38. The Appellant is entitled to a jury trial and no rule exist that states a jury trial can be struck. The original Judge Nicholson order was not upheld based on the denial of the relief set by Judge Nicholson for the Appellant, so the original agreement of the parties be in effect (R141, lines 14-15) and advance monthly payments and months be honored (R141, lines 14-15; R100, 102 line 16; R104, line 4; R105, lines 175 and 184). This was not upheld along with the frivolous and mock default hearing held without notifying and serving the appellant (R198-200). This default hearing on April 28, 2014 by Judge Dennis was unscheduled and it is not on the court record, but the Master-in-Equity Courts decided to utilize it against the Appellant; and as of August 6, 2018, Appellant was ordered by the Courts to pay \$60,212.00 to stop the sale of Appellant's property. At the time, the Appellant only owed \$25,613.42 (R368 to 386, R68 pages 9, 10 and 12 - R69). Because of this the Appellant paid \$34,5898.58 over what was owed. The Appellant asks the Appeal Court to be reimbursed for the overpayment and attorney fees of \$75,000.00 (R309 lines 21-25, R310 lines 1-25, R311 lines 1-2) and a counterclaim of \$600,000.00 for years of harassment (R93-94, R96, R115-118, R119, R121-122, R125, R128, R137-140, R143-148, R149-151, R154, R158-165, R194-197, R214-216, R218-220).

8) As shown, these are the violations of due process:

- a. Denied seven requests and demand for jury trial
- b. Denied all motions
- c. Overlooking Plaintiff (Respondent) perjury
- d. Denied of counter claim
- e. Ignored the fact that the case is under appeal
- f. Continue to move forward with the case in the lower court



Statement of the Counterclaim Case

Dear Judge of Appeal Court,

This Request for Compensation for Harass and Harassment and Pain and Suffering comes from years of suffering mental and emotional stress. For starters, back on July 15, 2000, I signed a contract with the Respondent, Allen Livingston, for the property located at 3042 North Carolina Ave., N., Charleston SC 29405. For the first seven years, everything was good. The agreement was for the Appellant Harold Simmons, Jr. to buy the property for \$125,000 at the rate of \$500 a month. So, all through those years I have been making good payments. Many of the times, I doubled or tripled my monthly payment. I did so if something went wrong or if I became sick, I would not fall behind on my payments. So, in the year 2007, the Respondent Alan Livingston decided he wanted out of the contract; he then went as far as filing a lawsuit at the magistrate level trying to use the court to help him break the contract. The first thing the Respondent did was to try to get the court to say that the contract was a rental agreement. The Respondent wanted the court to believe the contract the Respondent submitted was the real contract (R96-98), and that the contract Appellant Harold Simmons, Jr. presented was an altered contract (R88-90), but the court ruled that the Appellant's contract is authentic.

1. This lawsuit was filed on 10/2007 at the magistrate level with presiding Judge Stephanie Ganaway (Case number 09-1769). Due to the value of the case, the case was moved to the higher courts (R93-94).
2. The Court of Common Pleas Ninth Judicial Circuit presiding Judge Thomas L Hughston Jr. in year 6/2008 Case No 2007 - C1 - 67 - 1769 at this point and level. The Respondent and his attorney Jeffrey Barnwell convince Judge Thomas Hughston to do an Ejectment Order (R114-119).
3. (Charleston County Sheriff's office Ejectment case number 2007 - C1 - 67 - 1769) This action took place before the case was heard. This was done in July 2008, but the Appellant and his attorney Seth S. Whipper was able to have the Ejectment overturned (R120-122).
4. Now here we are back before the Court of Common Pleas (Case No. 08 - CP - 10 -0270) for a pre-trial before Judge Thomas L Hughston Jr.
5. In August 2008, Appellant Harold Simmons Jr. had to get an Affidavit from the Clerk of Court to show that Appellant was doing what was ordered by the Court. During that time, the Respondent claimed the Appellant was behind in his purchase money or rent by \$7000. From the start Appellant Harold Simmons, Jr. had been paid up in advance. At this time, the Respondent presented and gave the court has Respondent evidence intentionally and falsely showing the address as 3049 North Carolina Ave., the whole front page was re-written and the third page had certain things removed from it (R214-125).
6. Now the moment of truth, back to the Court of Common Pleas Ninth Judicial Circuit Judge J.C. Nicholson Jr. Case number 2010 - CP - 8027 and year 9/2012. At this time, the court ruled that the Appellant contract is the authentic contract. The Appellant contract is a Purchase Contract and the Appellant is and always had his purchase money paid up; not only paid up but over paid, \$16,040 beyond what was required under the contract (R136-139 lines 7-12).
7. Right before this hearing, Respondent's Attorney Jeffrey A. Barnwell had a discussion with Appellant Harold Simmons, Jr.'s Attorney Seth S. Whipper stating Respondent would drop his lawsuit for a settlement of \$80,000; but at the time of this request for settlement, Appellant only owed a balance of \$37,000.00 (R128, R100-101).
8. Respondent file appeal Case No. 2013- 00 -13 06, May 9, 2013 (R142-149).
9. Right before the filing of the Responding Appeal, Appellant Harold Simmons, Jr. paid Respondent Allen Livingston's Attorney Barnwell \$4500.00 towards the contract, but he never applied the funds (R129-135).
10. Two months after the Appeal was dismissed, Respondent filed a foreclosure on Appellant stating Appellant did not make any payments at all for the same \$4500.00 foreclosure filed by Allen Livingston's Attorney Bruce Berlinsky. Foreclosure filed March 2014 Case No. 2014 - CP - 10 - 01635 Presiding Judge J.C. Nicholson Court of Common Pleas (R250-253).
11. Attorney Bruce Berlinski did whatever it took to get Appellant in front of Master-in-Equity, Attorney Berlinski lied, stating Appellant did not answer (R193-195, R167-168, R198-200).
12. Appellant has requested a jury trial five times and was denied all requests. A jury trial was requested on April 24, 2014, June 12, 2014, June 6, 2014, July 16, 2014, and June 9, 2016. Hearing before Master-in-Equity Judge Mikell Scarborough in year 12/2014 Case No 2014 - CP - 10 - 01635 (R242-249). Appellant Harold Simmons, Jr. has

always been paid up in advance; always \$9000 or more in advance. Every time a case was filed, Appellant Harold Simmons, Jr. was ahead of his payments but still in some way the court showed bias and prejudice towards the Appellant and favoritism for Respondent Allen Livingston, even though payments were ahead and the Respondent filed forged and altered documents with the Court as his proof, lying under oath in the court every time. These forged documents were filed in Magistrate Court and in the Court of Common Pleas Ninth Judicial Circuit. This time the reason the Court gave is that even though Appellant had paid more money on top of the advance payments, which had made it 21 advance payments towards the month of December 2013 and because Appellant did not make advance payment number 22 for the month of 12/2013. The Master-in-Equity Judge Mikell Scarborough found the Appellant Harold Simmons, Jr. in default for not making advance payment number 22 for the month 12/2013. Judge M. Scarborough is changing Judge Nicholson language in the order even though the third Judge J.C. Nicholson Circuit Judge ruled in favor for Appellant Harold Simmons, Jr. because of the advance payment and court order Judge Nicholson stated "I am ordering that the transaction be carried out as agreed-upon", J.C. Nicholson's February 27, 2013 order. However, the fourth judge in Master-in-Equity Judge M. Scarborough is ruling to overturn Circuit Court Judge Nicholson. Judge Scarborough is the Judge who denied Appellant's requests for jury trials, which are Appellant's rights by Rules 39 and 53 of South Carolina Rules of the Court.

The property in question is where Appellant Harold Simmons, Jr. operates his auto repair business. This frivolous lawsuit interfered with his livelihood and future.

Appellant Harold Simmons, Jr. is asking the Judge of the Court of Appeals for ruling in Appellant's favor because he was never behind in payments and at the time only owed a balance of \$25,613.42 of the \$125,000.00 original agreed upon contract between Appellant and the Respondent. Only four more years of payments of \$500 a month were owed. The last two payments were made on 4/2/2018 for \$824.36 and 6/1/2018 for \$105.

Supporting Case Opinion No. 25510, citing the Court's opinion Lewis V. Premium Investment Corporation, the majority noted that typically in this type of contract, the seller retains legal title until the purchase price has been fully paid, and the purchaser is entitled to immediate possession. *Id A1419, 635S. E. 2dAt560, see Lewis V. Premium Investment Corporation, 351S. C. 157, 170-73, 568S. E. 2d361, 363-64(2002) (Stating that in an installment and contract, the seller retains legal title until the purchase price is fully paid and that the vendee is in possession of the land is the owner of an equitable interest in the property.)



Harold Simmons, Jr., Pro Se
3042 North Carolina Ave.
North Charleston, SC 29405
(843) 480-8694

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN RULING ON THE DENIED JURY TRIAL, CHANGE OF VENUE, AND COUNTERCLAIM.

Black's Law Dictionary, Sixth Edition, page 500

Due process of law. (R157, 158, R167, 168, R193, 194, 195, 196, 197 R198, 199, 200)

Law in its regular course of administration through courts of justice. Due process of law in each particular case means such an exercise of the powers of the government as the settled maxims of law permit and sanction, and under such safeguards for the protection of individual rights as those maxims prescribe for the class of cases to which the one in question belongs. A course of legal proceedings according to those rules and principles which have been established in our systems of jurisprudence for the enforcement and protection of private rights. To give such proceedings any validity, there must be a tribunal competent by its constitution- that is. by the law of its creation-to pass upon the subject-matter of the suit; and, if that involves merely a determination of the personal liability of the defendant, he must be brought within its jurisdiction by service of process within the state, or his voluntary appearance. *Pennoyer v. Neff* 95 U.S. 733, 24 L.Ed. 565.

Due Process of law implies the right of the person affected thereby to be present before the tribunal which pronounces judgment upon the question of life, liberty, or property, in its most comprehensive sense; to be heard, by testimony or otherwise, and to have the right of controverting, by proof, every material fact which bears on the question of right in the matter involved. If any question of fact or liability be conclusively presumed against him, this is not due process of law.

An orderly proceeding wherein a person is served with notice, actual or constructive, and has an opportunity to be heard and to enforce and protect his rights before a court having power to hear and determine the case. *Kazubowski v. Kazubowski*, 45 DJ.2d 405, 259 N.E.2d 282. 290.

Phrase means that no person shall be deprived of life, liberty, property or of any right granted him by statute, unless matter involved first shall have been adjudicated against him upon trial conducted according to established rules regulating judicial proceedings, and it forbids condemnation without a hearing. *Pettit v. Penn*, La.App., 180 So.2d 66, 69.

The concept of "due process of law" as it is embodied in Fifth Amendment demands that a law shall not be unreasonable, arbitrary, or capricious and that the means selected shall

have a reasonable and substantial relation to the object being sought. U. S. v. Smith, D.C.Iowa, 249 F.Supp. 515. 516.

Fundamental requisite of "due process" is the opportunity to be heard, to be aware that a matter is pending, to make an informed choice whether to acquiesce or contest, and to assert before the appropriate decision-making body the reasons for such choice. Trinity Episcopal Corp. v. Romney, D.C.N.Y., 387 F.Supp. 1044, 1084.

The Fifth Amendment is every US citizens right and the Appellant is no different in this case.

The Fifth Amendment states the following:

The Fifth Amendment says to the **federal** government that no one shall be "deprived of life, liberty or property without **due process of law.**" The Fourteenth Amendment, ratified in 1868, uses the same eleven words, called the **Due Process** Clause, to describe a **legal** obligation of all states. Former Section 22-3-230 was entitled "Right to jury trial" and was derived from 1962 Code Section 43-93; 1952 Code Section 43-93; 1942 Code Section 3710; 1932 Code Section 3710; Civ. C. '22 Section 2244; Civ. C. '12 Section 1394; Civ. C. '02 Section 986; G.S. 841; R.S. 884; 1868 (14) 100.

RULE 38

JURY TRIAL OF RIGHT

(a) Right Preserved. The right of trial by jury as declared by the Constitution or as given by a statute of South Carolina shall be preserved to the parties inviolate. Issues of fact in an action for the recovery of money only or of specific real or personal property must be tried by a jury, unless a jury trial be waived.

(b) Demand. Any party may demand a trial by jury of any issue triable of right by a jury by serving upon the other parties a demand therefor in writing at any time after the commencement of the action and not later than 10 days after the service of the last pleading directed to such issue. Such demand may be endorsed upon a pleading of the party. **(R-242, 243, 244, 245, 246, 247, 248, 249)**

(c) Same: Specification of Issues. In his demand a party may specify the issues which he wishes so tried; otherwise he shall be deemed to have demanded trial by jury for all the issues so triable. If he has demanded trial by jury for only some of the issues, any other party within 10 days after service of the demand or such lesser time as the court may order, may serve a demand for trial by jury of any other or all of the issues of fact in the action.

(d) **Waiver.** The failure of a party to serve a demand as required by this rule and to file it as required by Rule 5(d) constitutes a waiver by him of trial by jury. A demand for trial by jury made as herein provided may not be withdrawn without the consent of the parties, except where an opposing party is in default under Rule 55(a).

Note:

This Rule 38 is substantially the Federal Rule. The last sentence is added to Paragraph 38(a) to preserve the language of Code § 15-23-60. Paragraph 38(e) of the Federal Rule, referring to admiralty and maritime claims, is inapplicable to State practice.

No consideration was provided for "Due Process" or "Jury Trial of Right." Appellant believe that the Below court and Judge of the said court intended to violate the due process and jury trial of right according to the sections quoted above. Had it not been intended to violate the due process and jury trial of right, it would have been necessary for the inclusion of specific evidences and prior Judge court order to be reviewed and considered in the dismissal of the Lis Pendens and counterclaim granted.

II. THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN RULING ON THE ORDER OF THE MASTER'S SALE ON THE FORCLOSURE OF THE INSTALLMENT SALES CONTRACT.

The Appellant was never in a legal position to warrant a foreclosure on any property that was in an installment contract and therefore the ruling was erred. This is based on the prior order of Judge Nicholson in which the court did not take into consideration and therefore ignored the prior Judge order.

**RULE 53
MASTERS AND SPECIAL REFEREES**

(a) **Master and Special Referee Defined.** The term "master" means the master-in-equity for the county. The term "special referee" means a member of the South Carolina Bar to whom a matter has been referred under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-11-60.

(b) **References.** In an action where the parties consent, in a default case, or an action for foreclosure, some or all of the causes of action in a case may be referred to a master or special referee by order of a circuit judge or the clerk of court. In all other actions, the circuit court may, upon application of any party or upon its own motion, direct a reference of some or all of the causes of action in a case. Any party may request a jury pursuant to Rule 38 on any or all issues triable of right by a jury and, upon the filing of a jury demand, the matter shall be returned to the circuit court. A case shall not be referred to a master or special referee for the purpose of making a report to the circuit court. The

clerk shall promptly provide the master or special referee with a copy of the order of reference.

(c) **Powers.** Once referred, the master or special referee shall exercise all power and authority which a circuit judge sitting without a jury would have in a similar matter.

(d) **Compensation of Special Referees.** The compensation of the special referee shall be paid by the parties in such amount as shall be set by the special referee, subject to review by the circuit court upon objection by any party within ten (10) days of receipt of the order.

(e) **Appeals.** When a matter has been referred, any appeal from any order or judgment issued by the master or special referee shall be to the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals as provided by the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules.

Note:

This Rule 53 follows the Federal Rule as to form but is considerably modified to conform to State practice and needs. References in Federal Courts are rare, but absolutely necessary in State Courts, particularly to handle a large volume of State litigation such as foreclosures, partitions, and other equity matters. The State practice allowing judgment to be entered on the master's report in appropriate cases is preserved, as is the allowance of 10 days to file exceptions to the report. Other post-trial motions, such as a motion to amend judgment under Rule 52(b), would apply when the order of reference directs that judgment be entered on the master's report, just as they apply in actions tried by the court.

Note to 1986 Amendment:

Rule 53(c) is amended to make clear that the master has the same powers as a court sitting without a jury unless the order of reference limits his authority. Changes in that paragraph as well as Rule 53(d) leave the scheduling of the time and place of the hearings to the master. Rule 53(e)(1) is amended to remove the need for filing the transcript of proceedings if one has not been prepared, but Rule 53(e)(2) allows any party to obtain the transcript of proceedings before any hearing on exceptions to the master's report. Rule 53(e)(5) now authorizes the master to request briefs or proposed orders from counsel.

Note to 1994 Amendment:

This Rule 53(b) amendment clarifies the authority of the clerk of court to issue orders of reference in default cases and where all the parties consent.

Note to 1999 Amendment:

This amendment substantially revises this rule. It eliminates the practice of referring a matter for the purpose of making a report to the circuit court. Under the revised rule, the master or special referee will enter final judgment on any matter which is referred and any appeal from a decision of the master or special referee is to the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court as provided by the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules. The detailed discussion of the powers of masters and special referees, and the procedure to be followed in matters pending before them, has been eliminated as unnecessary since the master or special referee has all the powers that a circuit court judge sitting without a jury would have in the matter and the procedure is that provided by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

Note to 2001 Amendment:

Rule 53(d) is amended to provide that fees for special referees are set by the special referee subject to review by the circuit court if a party timely objects.

Note to 2002 Amendment

The 2002 amendment permits referral of foreclosure cases to the master-in-equity by order of the clerk of court. If there are counterclaims requiring a jury trial, any party may file a demand for a jury under Rule 38 and the case will be returned to the circuit court.

Last Amended by Order effective September 1, 2002.

**RULE 103
RULINGS ON EVIDENCE**

(a) **Effect of Erroneous Ruling.** Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected, and

(1) **Objection.** In case the ruling is one admitting evidence, a timely objection or motion to strike appears of record, stating the specific ground of objection, if the specific ground was not apparent from the context; or

(2) **Offer of Proof.** In case the ruling is one excluding evidence, the substance of the evidence and the specific evidentiary basis supporting admission were made known to the court by offer or were apparent from the context.

(b) **Record of Offer and Ruling.** The court may add any other or further statement which shows the character of the evidence, the form in which it was offered, the objection made, and the ruling thereon. It may direct the making of an offer in question and answer form.

This amendment substantially revises this rule. It eliminates the practice of referring a matter for the purpose of making a report to the circuit court. Under the revised rule, the master or special referee will enter final judgment on any matter which is referred and any appeal from a decision of the master or special referee is to the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court as provided by the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules. The detailed discussion of the powers of masters and special referees, and the procedure to be followed in matters pending before them, has been eliminated as unnecessary since the master or special referee has all the powers that a circuit court judge sitting without a jury would have in the matter and the procedure is that provided by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

Note to 2001 Amendment: (R242, 243, 244, 245, 246, 247, 248, 249)

Rule 53(d) is amended to provide that fees for special referees are set by the special referee subject to review by the circuit court if a party timely objects.

Note to 2002 Amendment

The 2002 amendment permits referral of foreclosure cases to the master-in-equity by order of the clerk of court. If there are counterclaims requiring a jury trial, any party may file a demand for a jury under Rule 38 and the case will be returned to the circuit court.

Last Amended by Order effective September 1, 2002.

RULE 103

RULINGS ON EVIDENCE

(a) Effect of Erroneous Ruling. Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected, and

(1) Objection. In case the ruling is one admitting evidence, a timely objection or motion to strike appears of record, stating the specific ground of objection, if the specific ground was not apparent from the context; or

(2) Offer of Proof. In case the ruling is one excluding evidence, the substance of the evidence and the specific evidentiary basis supporting admission were made known to the court by offer or were apparent from the context.

(b) Record of Offer and Ruling. The court may add any other or further statement which shows the character of the evidence, the form in which it was offered, the objection made, and the ruling thereon. It may direct the making of an offer in question and answer form.

(c) Hearing of Jury. In jury cases, proceedings shall be conducted, to the extent practicable, so as to prevent inadmissible evidence from being suggested to the jury by any means, such as making statements or offers of proof or asking questions in the hearing of the jury.

Note:

This rule is identical to the federal rule with the exception of the omission of subsection (d) relating to plain error. The rule of plain error contained in the federal rule is inconsistent with the law in South Carolina. Cf. State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991) (abolishing in favorem vitae review in capital cases and holding that error must be preserved by contemporaneous objection in the trial court). It should be noted that the Supreme Court has recognized a very few limited circumstances in which it will review issues raised for the first time on appeal. Cf. Toyota of Florence, Inc. v. Lynch, 314 S.C. 257, 442 S.E.2d 611 (1994) (challenge to abhorrent and outrageous argument raised for first time on appeal); State v. Pace, 316 S.C. 71, 447 S.E.2d 186 (1994) (failure to make contemporaneous objection to judge's comments excused where judge's tone and tenor made it clear that any objection would have been futile). Further, the failure to adopt a rule of plain error in no way limits the authority of trial judges to raise evidentiary issues on their own motion.

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