THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

MIKELL R. SCARBOROUGH, MASTER IN EQUITY

Case No.: 2016-001201

Allen Livingston, Respondent,

v.

Harold Simmons, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Bruce A. Berlinsky, Esquire
One Carriage Lane, Bldg. F
Charleston, SC 29407
bruce@berlinskylawfirm.com

RECEIVED
MAY 07 2020
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. THE MASTER IN EQUITY HEARD THE TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE OF THE CASE, AND AS THE TRIER OF FACT, PROPERLY RULED IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFF.
2. THE MASTER IN EQUITY DID NOT ERR IN NOT HOLDING A JURY TRIAL.
3. THE MASTER IN EQUITY DID NOT ERR IN UPHOLDING THE ORDER OF JUDGE NICHOLSON.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Case is the foreclosure of an installment sales contract on property located in Charleston County, South Carolina.

For background purposes, Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr. entered an Order in a case involving the same parties (2010-CP-10-8027) in which he ruled that the Lease to Buy Agreement between Respondent and Appellant was to be considered an installment sales contract setting payments to be \$500.00/month and establishing the balance due, giving credit for all payments made, at \$37,460.00 (R. Exhibit A). That Order was appealed to the South Carolina Court of Appeals and that appeal was dismissed making Judge Nicholson's Order the law of the case and the trial court is not free to go behind Judge Nicholson's Order, which Order is res judicata.

The Respondent failed to make the monthly payments required under Judge Nicholson's Order and the Respondent brought an action to foreclose the Installment Sales Contract on March 11, 2014.

The Respondent did file an answer requesting a jury trial but the claims of Respondent entitling him to a jury trial were stricken and no appeal of that Order was filed (R. Form 4 filed August 12, 2014, Exhibit B). With all claims stricken, the only issue remaining was foreclosure, which is a matter in equity, not entitling Appellant to a jury trial.

The trial took place on December 17, 2014, and Judge Scarborough, Charleston County Master in Equity, issued an Order dated December 2, 2015, Nun Pro Tunc to December 31, 2014, and thereafter, a second hearing on April 25, 2016, issued on Order

of Foreclosure and Sale dated May 6, 2016 (R. Exhibit C).

The Respondent participated, with counsel, in all hearings before Judge Scarborough.

ARGUMENTS

I. ALL ISSUES BEFORE THE COURT ARE NOW MOOT.

Although the issue of mootness was denied by Judge Lockemy in a previously filed motion after the Initial Brief was filed but prior to the filing of this Final Brief, I raise this issue before the Court again as I believe it is still relevant.

The underlying action is a foreclosure of an Installment Sales Contract. Pursuant to Order of the Charleston County Master in Equity, and after numerous hearings, the Master in Equity ultimately concluded that Appellant could pay the total sum due and owing in the amount of \$52,174.32 or post a bond in the amount of \$50,000.00 to stop the foreclosure sale. On or about August 10, 2018, the Appellant paid all sums due and owing under the Installment Sales Contract and received a deed from Respondent. The Appellant refused to record the aforesaid deed in the Charleston County Register of Deeds Office. As a result of failure to record the deed, the Master in Equity issued an Order dated October 8, 2018, in which he ordered that Appellant record the deed or, alternatively, the Master would issue a deed (R. Exhibit D). The Appellant failed to record the deed and the Master in Equity issued a deed that was recorded in the Charleston County Magistrate of Deeds Office in Book 0756, Page 020. Thereafter, Appellant recorded the deed he received from Respondent on August 10, 2018, on the same day, said deed recorded in Book 0756, Page 049.

Based on the foregoing, the matter before this Honorable Court is moot. In

general, the court may only consider cases where a justiciable controversy exists. A justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy which is ripe and appropriate for judicial determination as distinguished from a contingent, hypothetical, or abstract dispute. Moot appeals differ from unripe appeals in that moot appeals result when intervening events render a case non-justiciable. This Court will not pass on moot and academic questions where there remains no actual controversy. A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon the existing controversy. Sloan v. Greenville County, 356 S.C. 531, 590 S.E.2d 338 (SC App 2003). See also Byrd v. Irma High School, 321 S.C. 426, 468 S.E.2d 861 (1996); Pee Dee Electric Coop Inc. v. Carolina Power Light Co., 279 S.C. 64, 301 S.E.2d 761 (1983); Wallace v. City of York, 276 SC 693, 281 S.E.2d 482 (1981).

In the case at bar, the Appellant has paid all sums due and owing to Respondent and Respondent has issued a deed to Appellant which has been recorded. Based on the foregoing intervening events since the filing of the Master's various Orders and Appeal thereon (namely the payment of all sums due and owing under the Installment Sales Contract and the recording of the deeds), there is no real or substantial controversy which is ripe and appropriate for judicial determination and the appeal should be dismissed as moot.

II. THE MASTER IN EQUITY HEARD THE TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE OF THE CASE, AND AS THE TRIER OF FACT, PROPERLY RULED IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFF/RESPONDENT.

This case is an action in equity seeking foreclosure of an installment sales contract.

On appeal from an equitable action, an Appellate Court may find facts in accordance with its own view of the evidence. Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (SC 1976). While this standard permits a broad scope of review, an Appellate Court will not disregard the findings of the trial court, which saw and heard the witnesses and was in a better position to evaluate their credibility. Tiger Inc. v. Fisher Agro Inc. 301 S.C. 229, 391 S.E.2d 538 (1989); Buffington v. TOE Enterprises 383 S.C. 388, 680 S.E.2d 289 (SC 2009).

In the case at bar, the court found that the Appellant/Defendant through his own testimony and admission made no payments on the installment sales contract since the dismissal of the appeal in the first case filed December 3, 2016 (R. April 2, 2015 Order, Paragraph 5, Exhibit E). The Court further found that no reimbursement for taxes were made either (R. April 2, 2015 Order, Paragraph 7, Exhibit E). Further, the Master in Equity gave the Appellant the opportunity to reinstate the contract in his August 2, 2015 Order but Appellant failed to reinstate resulting in the May 6, 2016 Order of Foreclosure and Sale.

III. DID THE MASTER IN EQUITY ERR IN NOT HOLDING A JURY TRIAL?

Appellant initially appeared pro se. His legal claims were dismissed by Order filed August 11, 2014, leaving only the equitable action of foreclosure, which is a non-jury claim (R. Form 4, August 12, 2014, Exhibit B).

The Appellant, with counsel, appeared at both hearings on December 17, 2014, and April 25, 2016, and fully participated having never requested a jury trial.

It is well settled that issues not raised in the lower court cannot be raised for the

first time at the appellate level.

IV. DID THE MASTER IN EQUITY ERR IN UPHOLDING THE ORDER OF JUDGE NICHOLSON?

In the case at bar, Appellant contends that the Master in Equity did not take all payments into account. However, the Master had to adhere to the Final Order in the previous case (2010-CP-10-8027) by Judge Nicholson establishing the balance of the outstanding debt and the future monthly payments (R. Exhibit A, last paragraph).

Once the Order of Judge Nicholson became the final order and law of the case, the Master in Equity in the current case is not free to go behind Judge Nicholson's Order.

CONCLUSION

In an action in equity, an appellate court may find facts in accordance with its own view of the evidence Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976). By Appellant's own testimony, he has not made any payments on the installment sales contract since Judge Nicholson's appeal was dismissed by Order filed December 3, 2013. Further, Appellant participated in two hearings before the Master in Equity effectively waiving his request for jury trial by not raising the issue at the trial level and by the fact that equitable matters are non-jury. Finally, all of Appellant's arguments at the lower level were seeking to go behind the final order of Judge Nicholson. For the aforementioned reasons stated, the Court should affirm the judgment and orders of the lower court and allow for such further relief deemed appropriate.